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I, Azra Z. Mehdi, declare as follows: 

1. I am the founder of The Mehdi Firm, P.C. (The Mehdi Firm”) and counsel of record 

for Plaintiff James Stewart as well as Class Counsel appointed by the Court in this action.   

2. I am admitted to practice in the States of California and New York. I am also 

admitted to the Northern District of California, as well as several other federal courts around the 

country. 

3. I am over the age of eighteen and not a party to this action. I respectfully submit this 

declaration in support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of Attorneys’ Fees, Reimbursement of 

Litigation Costs and Expenses and Service Award to Named Plaintiff (“Motion”).  I describe below 

my background, experience and The Mehdi Firm, PC’s services rendered in the above-entitled 

matter in connection with counsel’s application for an award of attorneys’ fees and costs. I have 

personal knowledge of the facts stated herein and upon request can and will competently testify 

thereto. 

EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATIONS 

4. I have over 26 years of experience in litigating complex class actions. I graduated 

from DePaul University School of Law in 1995.  Prior to launching my solo practice in 2012, I was 

a member with the law firms of Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP (then known as Coughlin, 

Stoia, Geller, Rudman & Robbins, LLP) and Milberg LLP, where I handled consumer, securities, 

and antitrust class actions. 

5. I have been involved in litigating this action from inception until settlement and was 

directly and actively involved as the primary client liaison in this case. I actively participated in 

preparing pleadings, obtaining discovery from plaintiffs, preparing plaintiffs for depositions, 

meetings with experts, attending depositions and mediations, participating in settlement 

negotiations and have been involved in keeping the plaintiffs informed of all developments in the 

litigation.   
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6. Currently my firm handles a variety of large complex matters, primarily complex 

plaintiffs’ class actions.  A true and correct copy of The Mehdi Firm’s most recent resume is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

7. Since launching my firm, I have represented Mashreqbank, psc, one of the largest 

commercial banks in the United Arab Emirates in United States District Court in the Central District 

of California in the Maine State Ret. Sys. v. Countrywide Financial Corporation, et al., Case No. 

No. 2:10-cv-00302-MRP (MANx) and Luther v. Countrywide Financial Corporation, et al., Case 

No. 212-cv-05125-MRP(MANx), which settled for $500 million.  

8. I also represented Mashreqbank, psc in a private commercial contract dispute in the 

United States District Court in the Southern District of New York in the Mashreqbank, psc v. ING 

Groep N.V. et. al., Case No. 1:13-cv-2318-LGS-RLE, which settled just before summary judgment. 

9. I currently represent Mashreqbank as an opt-in class member in the UK Foreign 

Exchange Cartel case pending before the UK Competition Appeal Tribunal.   

10. My firm was appointed Co-Lead Counsel in the Sidibe v. Sutter Health, Case No. 

No. 12-cv-4854-LB (N.D.Cal), Case No. 14-16234 (9th Cir.) an antitrust lawsuit that was recently 

tried before this court during the period February-March 2022.  

11. My firm has represented consumers against an online florist organization in the 

District of Massachusetts in O’Brien v. Bloomstoday et al., Case No. 3:12-cv-30041-MAP 

(D.Mass) asserting claims under Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act (“MCPA”), Mass. Gen. 

Laws Ch. 93A; Electronic Fund Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. §1693, et seq., and the 

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. §1962(c). 

12. My firm was lead counsel in the United States District Court for the Central District 

of California in the Townsend v. Monster Beverage Corporation, et al., Case No. EDCV12-02188 

VAP (KKx), Case No. 13-57094 (9th Cir.), a consumer class action brought against Monster 

Beverage Corporation and Monster Energy Company alleging that certain of their made false and 

misleading representations inducing plaintiffs to purchase these energy drinks and pay a premium. 

Although initially dismissed by the lower court, plaintiffs prevailed in the Ninth Circuit, but the 

claims were not certified and ultimately dismissed.  
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13. My firm is also counsel of record in the In re Domestic Airline Travel Antitrust 

Litigation, Case No. 1:15-mc-01404-CKK (D.D.C), and in the In Re: Disposable Contact Lens 

Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 3:15-md-02626-HES-JRK (M.D. Fla.), large multidistrict antitrust 

litigations.  

14. I have been the primary litigation partner on many large-scale class actions. My 

prior notable cases include, among others: 

(a) HSBC California Call Recording Lawsuits (Fanning et al. v. HSBC Card 

Services Inc. et al., Case No. 12-cv-00885 JVS (RNBx) (C.D. Cal.) and Lindgren v. HSBC Card 

Services Inc. et al., Case No. 14-cv-05615 JVS (RNBx) (C.D. Cal.)) class counsel alleging 

violations of California’s Invasion of Privacy Act, Cal. Penal Code §§ 630 et seq. which settled for 

$13 million in 2017. 

(b) Lead litigation partner for investor plaintiffs in Lawrence E. Jaffe Pension 

Plan v. Household International, Inc., No. 02-05893 (N.D. Ill.), a complex securities fraud case 

where a Chicago jury returned a verdict in favor of the investors, and which recently settled for 

$1.575 billion in June 2016. 

(c) One of the lead lawyers in In re WorldCom Sec. Litig., No. 03-8269 

(S.D.N.Y.) alleging violations of state and federal securities laws brought on behalf of a number of 

California-based City and County pensions plans. 

(d) Nobles v. MBNA Corp., Case No. 06-03723 (N.D. Cal.) representing 

California consumers in connection with claims of misrepresentations in connection with access 

checks or balance transfer checks, which settled for $9 million. 

15. Additional actions that The Mehdi Firm is handling are listed in Exhibit 1. 

TIME & EXPENSES 

16. The information in this declaration regarding The Mehdi Firm’s time and expenses 

was taken from time and expense reports prepared and maintained contemporaneously by my firm 

in the ordinary course of business. I oversaw and/or conducted the day-to-day activities in this 

litigation as noted in ¶5 supra. I have reviewed the time and expenses being submitted herein for 

reasonableness of the time and expenses committed to the litigation. I have also made appropriate 
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downward adjustments to the time and expenses exercising my judgment to eliminate billable hours 

where appropriate. For example, my firm has not billed any of its time after the February 17, 2022, 

hearing on plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval or in connection with this motion. I would 

be happy to provide my details time and billing records to the court upon request. 

17. I spent a total of over 141 hours on this matter. The total lodestar amount for attorney 

time based on my current rates is $116,125. My hourly rate is $825, which is reasonable based on 

both years and level of experience, and in fact below the market rates charged by litigation attorneys 

in Northern California with my years and quality of experience. Five years ago, in October 2017, 

in approving a privacy settlement, Judge Selna in the HSBC California Call Recording Lawsuits 

found my rate of $775 per hour to be reasonable, and the $50 increase in my hourly rate is 

imminently reasonable.  

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the 

foregoing is true and correct. Executed this 18th day of April 2022 at Los Angeles, California. 

 

/s/ Azra Z. Mehdi 

AZRA Z. MEHDI 
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FIRM	RESUME	
Founded in by Azra Z. Mehdi, The Mehdi Firm, PC is a Minority Women-owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) 
with office locations in San Francisco and New York. The Mehdi Firm represents individual and institutional 
investors, financial institutions, and private companies from different geographic regions, including in the 
United States, India, United Arab Emirates and several other Middle Eastern countries. The Mehdi Firm also 
represents consumers in antitrust and consumer protection class actions. 

Ms. Mehdi has over 26 years of experience in complex class action litigation in the securities, consumer fraud 
and antitrust practice areas, among others. Before launching the firm in 2012, Ms. Mehdi was a partner at the 
Coughlin, Stoia, Geller, Rudman & Robbins LLP where she led several large-scale class actions as the primary 
litigation partner or had a substantial role. These cases are noted below. 

Since 2012, The Mehdi Firm has led or had a role in numerous complex civil and representative actions set 
forth below. 

THE	MEHDI	FIRM’S	CASES: 	

• UK Foreign Exchange Cartel Case (UK Competition Appeal Tribunal), Case No: 1329/7/7/19 
1336/7/7/19: The Mehdi Firm represents United Arab Emirates’ largest commercial bank 
Mashreqbank, psc on an opt-in basis in the pending collective action against several multinational 
investment banks. On March 31, 2022, the Competition Appeal Tribunal delivered its judgment on 
certification and carriage in FX Claim UK. The Tribunal had previously heard applications from two 
parties Philip Evans and Michael O’Higgins for permission to bring collective proceedings relating to 
the foreign exchange spot trading cartels (FX Claim UK) between July 12-16, 2021.  The Tribunal 
found that the proceedings could be certified as collective proceedings, but only on an opt-in basis.  
The matter is pending.  

• Williams v. Apple, Inc., Case No. 3:19-cv-4700-LB (N.D.Cal): Plaintiffs Andrea Williams and James 
Stewart brought this class action against Defendant Apple Inc. (“Apple”) for breach of contract, and 
violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law and False Advertising Laws in connection with 
Apple’s ICloud storage service. Plaintiffs allege that Apple represented to class members during the 
class period in the ICloud storage agreement that in exchange for paying Apple the iCloud monthly 
subscription fees for over 5GB storage, Apple would provide them with digital data storage on the 
cloud so that they did not have to store large amounts of data on their personal user devices. Apple 
did not have the necessary infrastructure to provide this service and instead of storing class members’ 
data on Apple cloud servers and facilities, when in fact Apple stored users’ data on cloud facilities 
owned and operated by other entities, like Amazon, Microsoft or Google. On May 28 2021, the Court 
certified a class of Apple ICloud subscribers for the period September 16, 2015 to January 31, 2016 
and appointed James Stewart as the class representative. On January 13, 2022, plaintiffs filed a motion 
for preliminary approval of the litigation asking the court to approve the $14.8 million settlement.  On 
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February 24, 2022, the court preliminarily approved the settlement and set the final approval hearing 
for August 4, 2022.   

• In re Domestic Airline Travel Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 1:15-mc-01404-CKK (D.D.C.): The 
Mehdi Firm is counsel of record to two individual plaintiffs in this multidistrict antitrust class action 
against four of the largest commercial air passenger carriers in the United States—American Airlines, 
Inc., Delta Air Lines, Inc., Southwest Airlines Co., and United Airlines, Inc.—to fix, raise, maintain, 
and/or stabilize prices for air passenger transportation services within the United States, its territories 
and the District of Columbia in violation of Sections 1 and 3 of the Sherman Antitrust Act (15 U.S.C. 
§§ 1, 3), by, inter alia, colluding to limit capacity on their respective airlines. Plaintiffs seek recovery of 
treble damages for the class period from July 1, 2011 to the present. Although the matter is proceeding, 
settlements totaling $60 million have already been obtained against certain of the defendants.  

• In Re: Disposable Contact Lens Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 3:15-md-02626-HES-JRK (M.D. Fla.): 
The Mehdi Firm is counsel of record to a named plaintiff in this multidistrict antitrust class action 
brought on behalf of individuals who made a retail purchase or purchases of disposable contact lenses 
manufactured by defendants Alcon Laboratories, Inc.; Johnson & Johnson Vision Care, Inc.; Bausch 
& Lomb Inc.; and CooperVision, Inc. subject to one of the “Unilateral Pricing Policies” (“UPPs”) for 
the period from June 1, 2013 to the present. Plaintiffs allege that defendants conspired with each other 
and with defendant ABB Concise Optical Group, LLC, a wholesaler, as well as independent eye care 
professionals (e.g., optometrists and ophthalmologists who sell contact lenses to consumers) and their 
trade association, the American Optometric Association (“AOA”), to impose minimum resale prices 
on certain contact lens lines by subjecting them to UPPs, thereby reducing or eliminating price 
competition on those products from “big box” stores (e.g., those owned or operated by Wal-Mart 
Stores, Inc. and Meijer, Inc.), buying clubs (e.g., those run by Costco and internet-based retailers (e.g., 
1-800-Contacts and LensDiscounters.com) by preventing them from discounting those products. The 
Mehdi Firm is participating in the ongoing discovery and prosecution of this large MDL action. 
Although settlement were reached between the class and some of the defendants in the years leading 
up to trial, on March 28, 2022, shortly before trial was anticipated to begin, all parties settled. 

• MashreqBank, psc v. ING Investment Management Co. et al., Case No. 13-cv-2318-LGS (S.D.N.Y.): 
Ms. Mehdi represented MashreqBank, the largest commercial bank in the United Arab Emirates in a 
private breach of contract lawsuit against ING. ING was MashreqBank’s investment manager during 
the 2006–2007 period and breached its contract with MashreqBank by investing in illiquid investments 
such as CDOs, CBOs, CLOs and other structured investment products, thereby causing losses of over 
$60 million.  The court denied ING’s motion to dismiss the complaint and the parties entered into a 
private settlement resolving the dispute prior to summary judgment.  

• Luther v. Countrywide Home Loans Servicing LP et al., Case No. BC380698 (Los Angeles Cnty. 
Super. Ct.): The Mehdi Firm was counsel to MashreqBank, psc, a large, foreign commercial bank in 
the Luther class action, which names as defendants several Countrywide subsidiaries and affiliated 
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individuals, multiple loan trusts, and Countrywide’s offering underwriters. The complaint asserted 
claims on behalf of purchasers of billions of dollars of mortgage pass-through certificates issued 
between June 2005 and June 2007 and alleged that the defendants violated Sections 11, 12 and 15 of 
the Securities Act of 1933 by misrepresenting the risk of investing in the mortgage pass-through 
certificates was much greater than represented by the registration and prospectus supplements. This 
matter  settled for $500 million, the largest mortgage-backed-securities class action recovery in history. 

• Stewart v. GoGo, Inc., Case No. 12-5164 (N.D. Cal.): Ms. Mehdi represented consumers in an antitrust 
class action alleging that GoGo had unlawfully maintained monopoly market power in the United 
States market for inflight internet connectivity on domestic US travel. The Court denied GoGo’s 
motion to dismiss the complaint and the parties entered into a private settlement before class 
certification. 

• O’Brien v. Blooms Today, Case No. 12-cv-30041-MAP (D. Mass.): Ms. Mehdi represented consumers 
in this nationwide consumer action alleging violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. 
§1693 et seq., and the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §1962(c), and 
unfair trade practices under Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act, Mass. Gen. Laws Ch. 93A. The 
complaint demanded recovery for harm caused by defendants’ false and misleading marketing 
campaign for a 50% discount on flowers for same day delivery, where defendants’ real objective was 
to automatically enroll consumers in a rewards program resulting in monthly billing and charging of 
consumers’ credit cards or debiting their bank accounts without their knowledge or consent. Upon 
denial of defendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint, the parties entered into a private settlement. 

• Sidibe et al. v. Sutter Health, Case No. 12-cv-4854-LB (N.D. Cal.): The Mehdi Firm is Co-Lead 
counsel in this antitrust class action lawsuit brought by persons enrolled in commercial health insurance 
plans (like Aetna, Anthem Blue Cross, BlueShield, Cigna, HealthNet, UnitedHealth) against Sutter 
Health, the largest hospital chain in Northern California. Plaintiffs alleged that Sutter Health uses its 
monopoly power to engage in various forms of anti-competitive conduct resulting in health plans 
paying higher rates which are passed downstream resulting in individuals and employers paying higher 
premiums. On August 30 2019, the court certified an injunctive relief class and a damages class was 
certified on July 30, 2020 for a class period beginning January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2020.  On October 
16, 2020, a panel of the Circuit Court for the Ninth Circuit denied Sutter’s petition for an interlocutory 
appeal under Fed. R. Civ. P 23(f). A jury trial was held between February 9, 2022. After a 4-week trial, 
the jury found in favor of Sutter. Plaintiffs intend to appeal.  

• HSBC California Call Recording Lawsuits (Fanning et al. v. HSBC Card Services Inc. et al., Case No. 12-
cv-00885 JVS (RNBx) (C.D. Cal.) and Lindgren v. HSBC Card Services Inc. et al., Case No. 14-cv-05615 
JVS (RNBx) (C.D. Cal.)): The Mehdi Firm is class counsel in the above cases currently pending before 
the Honorable Judge James V. Selna. These cases allege that HSBC violated California’s Invasion of 
Privacy Act, Cal. Penal Code §§ 630 et seq. by recording telephone conversations with account holders 
concerning their HSBC credit card accounts without the account holders’ consent. On October 19, 
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2016, the Court granted preliminary approval of a $13 million settlement and final approval on October 
23, 2017. 

• Townsend et al. v. Monster Beverage Corp. et al., Case No. 12-cv-02118-VAP-KKx (C.D. Cal.): The 
Mehdi Firm was Lead Counsel in this consumer class action brought against Monster Beverage 
Corporation and Monster Energy Company alleging that certain of their Monster Energy® branded 
drinks made false and misleading representations inducing plaintiffs to purchase these energy drinks 
and pay a premium. Plaintiffs also alleged that Monster failed to appropriately warn consumers of the 
health risks inherent in these drinks. Although initially dismissed by the lower court, plaintiffs prevailed 
in the Ninth Circuit, but the claims were not certified. 

• In re: Aluminum Warehousing Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 1:13-MD-2481-KBF (S.D.N.Y.): The 
Mehdi Firm is counsel to VIVA Railings, LLC, a plaintiff in this multidistrict antitrust litigation 
currently pending before the Honorable Katherine Forrest in the Southern District of New York. This 
antitrust class action alleges that defendants Goldman Sachs, Metro International, London Metals 
Exchange, among others, conspired to artificially inflate the prices of aluminum, thereby restraining 
trade. The case is ongoing after a successful appeal in the Second Circuit. 

• Zagoria v. New York University, Case No. 20-cv-3610 (S.D.N.Y): Plaintiff Daniel Zagoria filed a class 
action for breach of contract and unjust enrichment on behalf of himself and all other similar situated 
students enrolled at New York University (“NYU”) who did not enroll at NYU’s online degree 
programs. As a result of the Covid 19 pandemic, NYU shut down its campus facilities, discontinued 
all on-campus in-classroom instruction of any courses at any of NYU’s campuses and schools, and 
instead moved all instruction to remote online media. Yet, NYU made Plaintiff and all students liable 
for the full pre-shutdown tuition and fee obligations despite being unable to provide, and not 
providing, the services or facilities that the students bargained for and were being billed for as part of 
their tuition and fees that easily amount to thousands of dollars per student. On March 17, 2021, the 
court dismissed the complaint with prejudice. Plaintiff decided not to appeal the dismissal. 

• Schmidlin v. AMA Restaurants, et al., Case No. BC568742 (Los Angeles Cnty. Super. Ct.): The Mehdi 
Firm represents plaintiff in this California Private Attorneys General Act  action against a Denny’s 
restaurant and its owner alleging violations of California labor laws, including, inter alia, failing to (i) 
pay for meal periods; (ii) pay for rest periods; (iii) timely pay wages upon termination; (iv) provide a 
properly negotiable financial instrument; (v) provide complete and accurate wage statements; (vi) 
maintain complete and accurate payroll records, including the manipulation of such payroll records to 
avoid paying employees their rightful wages; and (vii) permit the timely inspection of payroll records 
at employee’s reasonable request. Parties entered into a private settlement. 
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MS.	MEHDI’S	PRIOR	NOTABLE	LITIGATIONS:	

• Jaffe v. Household International, Inc., Case No. 02-05893 (N.D. Ill.): Ms. Mehdi was the lead litigation 
partner on this complex securities fraud case for seven years, where over five million documents were 
produced. In addition to drafting the operative complaint, Ms. Mehdi led the entire pre-trial phase of 
the lawsuit, including designing the litigation and discovery strategy, selecting the experts, overseeing 
all motion practice, fact and expert discovery. A Chicago jury returned a verdict in favor of the investors 
represented by Ms. Mehdi against the company and its senior executives, in May 2009 with a potential 
recovery between $1–$3 billion in damages. This verdict was appealed and the case went back to district 
court for a second trial. On the eve of the second trial, almost 14 years after initiation, the case settled 
for $1.575 billion. 

• In re WorldCom Securities Litigation, Case No. 03-8269 (S.D.N.Y.): Ms. Mehdi was one of the lead 
lawyers in the WorldCom private actions, brought on behalf of institutional investors who opted out 
of the class action case and sued WorldCom’s bankers, officers, directors, and auditors for losses 
related to WorldCom offerings. Ms. Mehdi’s supervised motion practice, discovery, and settlement 
processes for several California-based city and county pensions plans, and certain unions and 
entertainment funds. These actions resulted in a recovery of over $650 million for the institutions. 

• In re IMPAX Laboratories, Inc. Securities Litigation, Case No. 04-04802 JW (N.D. Cal.): Ms. Mehdi 
represented investors in this securities fraud class action complaint against Impax Laboratories, Inc. a 
specialty pharmaceutical company that develops, sells and markets generic pharmaceuticals for 
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The case 
settled for just over $9 million. 

• Bank of America Access Checks Litigation: Ms. Mehdi represented California consumers in an action 
against Bank of America and MBNA Corporation: Nobles v. MBNA Corp., No. 06-03723 (N.D. Cal.). 
arising from allegations of false representations in defendants’ “live check” loan solicitations (i.e., 
access checks, convenience checks or balance transfer checks). This case resulted in a recovery of over 
80% of the compensatory damages, and led to a mandated change in Bank of America’s business 
practices to provide additional disclosures relating to such solicitations. 

• In re NASDAQ Market Makers Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 1023 (S.D.N.Y.): Antitrust action 
alleging that NASDAQ market-makers set wide spreads based on an industry-wide conspiracy. After 
more than three years of litigation, the case settled for over $1 billion. 

• In re Visa Check/MasterMoney Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 96-5238 (E.D.N.Y.): Represented the 
world’s largest discount shoe retailer in antitrust class action against Visa and MasterCard, alleging that 
defendants created an unlawful tying arrangement in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act by 
requiring merchants who accepted their credit cards to also accept their debit cards. After over 6 years 
of litigation, the case settled for over $ 3 billion. 
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• In re Motorsports Merchandise Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 97-2314 (N.D. Ga): Represented 
consumers in an antitrust class action alleging price fixing of race-related merchandise sold at motor 
sports events. 

• In re Ocean View Capital v. Sumitomo Corp., Case No. 98-4067 (S.D.N.Y.): Ms. Mehdi represented 
a private party in an antitrust action against Sumitomo Copper in connection with allegations of fixing 
prices in the copper market. The action settled in a private resolution. 

QUALIFICATIONS	

Ms. Mehdi’s qualifications include the following: 

• Juris Doctor from DePaul College of Law, Chicago, Illinois (1995) 

• Bachelor of Arts with High Honors in English Literature and German, University of Illinois 
at Chicago (1992) 

• Member of the Honors College; spent a year studying German Literature at the University of 
Vienna and the Business University in Vienna, Austria 

• Clerked with the international law firm of Ortner, Pöch & Foramitti in Vienna, Austria 

• Selected to participate in a private shareholder group of international companies bidding to 
acquire the contract to provide telecommunications services as the Austrian government 
moved toward privatizing the Austrian telecommunications industry 

• Fluent in German, Hindi with conversational ability in French 

ADMISSIONS	

• State of New York (1996) 

• State of California (2002) 

• The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit (2014) 

• United States District Court for the Northern, Central and Southern Districts of California 
(2002) 

• United States District Court for the District of Colorado (2003) 

• United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois (2004) 

• United States District Court for the Western District of Washington (2005) 

• The United States District Court for the Southern and Eastern Districts of New York (1997) 
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